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The John Strong House is located between West Addison and Chimney Point on Vermont
Route 17 in the Champlain Valley. Overlooking Lake Champlain, it is a highly impres-
sive house today and must have awed most when it was built in 1795-6. Combining
elements of the Georgian and Federal styles, the presence of the house is enhanced

by the solid appearance of brick. 'In turn, the massing is counterbalanced by refined
details such as the Palladian window, a fanlight, a molded cornice with modillions,
windows with 12712 lights, and the entrance porch. ’

With 5 x 2 bays and two stories, the house presents a symmetrical facade which is
capped by a hipped roof. A large brick chimney anchors each side of the roof though
the one on the north side is an interior chimney. The central gable pediment, which
emphasizes the rooflines as well as the facade, has a semi-elliptical fanlight with
radiating muntins and a raking and horizontal molded cornice with modillions which
is continued ‘along the entire cornice line of the house. The Palladian window also
emphasizes the central bay as does the entrance. The doorway is flanked by 9/9 side-
lights and is protected by the l-bay gabled porch which is supporte? by columns and
pilasters and repeats the godillion cornice like that of the house.” The windows
are 12/12 double-hung sash” and have jack arches of rubbed brick. Further brick
articulation is seen in the high water table of brick and native red stone, the
brick stringcourse delineating the first and second floors, and the glazed brick
patterns on the two rear walls.

The Palladian window is the most exquisite feature of the facade and exhibits an
unusually high degree of craftsmanship. Four fluted pilasters support the window's
entablature which repeats the molding profile of the roof cornice on a smaller scale.
The arch above the window is composed of brick headers which further define the window.

The interior of the Strong House reflects the same degree of quality as the exterior.
The Georgian floor plan revolves around the wide central hallway whose size is mag-
nified by a large wooden keystone arch and a stairway with two runs and a central
landing which extends the width of the hall. Many of the original details and hard- .
ware remain intact; particularly fine are several fireplace mantels which have molded
cornices, rope moldings, and dentils. The two chimneys serve five fireplaces includ-
ing the large kitchen fireplace which has a bake oven on the side. Somewhat odd is
that there is only one principal bedroom and yet because Strong was about 58 years
old when he built the house, it is conceivable that all of his children had left home
by that time. On the south side of the second floor opposite the bedroom is a large
bathroom, a reminder that this house was not only the finest in the area but also an
important social and civic meeting place.

1This porch is a 1930's reproduction of the original porch.
These windows were restored in the-1930's.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The John Strong House is one of Vermont's more significant structures because it
was built by an eminent Revolutionary War leader and exhibits outstanding architec-
tural features. Built by General John Strong in 1795(6), this house is an elegant
interpretation of the Georgian and Federal styles and ranks as one of the state's
grandest examples of early domestic architecture.

John Strong (1738-1816) moved to Vermont from Connecticut in 1765 and built a house
near the "Salt licks'" which were known for attracting wild game. The site, near
the present structure, had the cellar remains of an old French house and it was

on top of this cellar that Strong built his house.

In February 1766, Strong brought his family to Addison and worked his farm until
British troops threatened the safety of residents in this area during the Revolu-
tion. Strong and his family fled to Dorset, Vermont, for the duration and from
1779-82, Strong represented Dorset in the legislature. 1In 1781, he was elected
assistant judge of Bennington County. When the war ended, the Strong family returned
to Addison and found that their house had been burned by British troops. So a

second house was built and slowly Strong reclaimed his farm land. This house has
since been destroyed. By 1795, his prosperity allowed for the construction of the
brick house which, in a way, reflected Strong's standing in the community. Through-
out his life, Strong was actively involved in civic affairs.

Architecturally, the John Strong House ranks as one of the most outstanding struc-
tures in the state. The design is unusually sophisticated and, considering its
early date, is enhanced by the use of brick, only sporadically employed at this
time in Vermont. While wood has always been the predominant building material in
Vermont, settlers in the Champlain Valley sometimes built stone and brick houses
because of numerous quarries and the abundance of clay deposits in the region. The
Strong House is one of the earliest brick houses in Vermont and is particularly
distinguished by the quality of its brickwork. Undoubtedly laid by a skilled mason,
the brick's Flemish bond, the favorite choice of 18th century masons, contributes

to the stylishness of the house. The inherent checkered pattern of the bond is
enhanced by the highly decorative use of glazed headers that form distinctive diamond-
shaped patterns in the rear walls. This type of brickwork, while relatively common
during the 18th century in the mid-Atlantic region and Virginia, is extremely rare
in Vermont. Only two other examples are known to exist: the Federation Building
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION The John Strong House is situated on one acre of land
bounded on the east by Vermont Route 17 and on the north, south and west sides by
the DAR State Park which is owned by the State of Vermont.
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in Middlebury, 1804 (entered on the National Register November 13, 1976), and the

Chittendeg—Martin House in Jericho, 1796 (entered on the National Register January
9, 1978).

The details, forms, and massing of the house suggest that either Strong or his
builder were familiar with 18th century pattern books and a particularly strong
correlation seems to exist between Batty Langley's Practical House Carpenter
(London, 1754) and the house. In turn, the Strong House appears to have influenced
the designs of other buildjngs in the area yet none attained the same level of
architectural distinction.

The John Strong House is important not only for its regional impact, but because
it shows the quality of design and workmanship which could be attained during
Vermont's early years.

3These three examples of glazed-brick design refer to full-length wall patterns.
Others may exist. Glazed designs of a smaller scale may be more or less preva-

lent. One example is the Spencer House (1830) in Addison (Vermont State Survey:
0101-61) which incorporates a small glazed diamond design in each gable pediment;

odd is that the date is relatively late for glazed brick, and the diamonds are

set into 7:1 American bond.

Similarities can be seen in the Clemens House (c. 1800) in Shoreham (Vermont

State Survey: 0118-4); Page House (c. 1798) in Shoreham (Vermont State Survey:
0118-20); Buck-0'Connor House (c. 1805) in Bridport (Vermont State Survey: 0102-23);
and Audett-Gray House (c. 1810) in Bridport (Vermont State Survey: 0102-36).



